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1. Name of Property

historic name Bérkheimer, Henrv and Elizabeth, Farm

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number ___240 Bentz Mill Road N/£7 not for publication
city or town __Washington Township N/& vicinity

state _Pennsylvania code _PA _ county __York code _133  zip code __17365

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this )a nomination-
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of

Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
meets.(J does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

= natioﬁly 4 statewide@ locally. (D See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

D\ October 3, 2000

Signature of certifying official/Titie Date
Brent D. Glass, Executive Director, PA Historical & Museum Commission
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property 0 meets [J does not meet the National Register criteria. (D See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of commenting officiai/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that the property is: Signature of the Keeper Date of Action

T entered in the National Register.
[ see continuation sheet.

T determined eligible for the
Nationa! Register
[ see continuation sheet.

 determined not eligible for the
Nationat Register.

Cl

removed from the National
Register.

= other. (exptain:)




Berkheimer, Henry and Eliza.ueth, Farm
Name of Property

York Co'nty , PA

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
KX private KX building(s)
[ public-local 1 district
[J public-State {1 site
[ public-Federal [ structure
(3 object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “N/A™ if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
8 Y buildings
2 0 sites
1 0 structures
0 0 _objects
11 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

0

‘6. Function or Use-

' Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) .

DOMESTIC / single dwelling

AGRICULTURE / animal facility

DOMESTIC / secondary structure

AGRICULTURE / storage

AGRICULTURE / agricultural outbuilding
PROCESSING / energy facility

AGRICULTURE / agricultural field

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC / single dwelling
AGRICULTURE / animal facility
DOMESTIC / secondary structure
AGRICULTURE / storage ‘
AGRICULTURE / agricultural outbuilding
'NOT IN USE

AGRICULTURE / agricultural field

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

Other: Pennsylvania German vernacular

Other: Sweitzer barn

Narrative Description

-Matenials

(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation __Sandstone

walls _ Sandstone

Weatherboard
other __WOOD

BRICK

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)



Berkheimer, Henry and Elizabeth, Farm

Name ot Property

York County, PA

County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark *

‘x"" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property

for National Register listing.)

XA

go

Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history. :

Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
ot a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in- prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations

(Mark “x"" in all the boxes that apply.)
Property is:
J A owned by a religious institution or used for

0B
ac
go
OE
OF
OaG

religious purposes.

removed from its original location.

a birthplace or grave.

a cemetery.

a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
a commemorative property.

less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets))

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

AGRICULTURE

ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance
1815-1928

Significant Dates
N/A

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation -
N/A

Architect/Builder

Unknown

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, arlicles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)
Previous documentation on file (NPS):
O3 preliminary determination of individual listing (36

CFR 67) has been requested

[J previously listed in the National Register
(J previously determined eligible by the National

Register

[J designated a National Historic Landmark
] recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

#

[J recorded by Historic American Engineering

Record #

Primary location of additional data:

[ State Historic Preservation Office
{J Other State agency
{J Federal agency
J Local government
(] University
EXOther
Name of repository:

Historic York, Inc.




Berkheimer, Henry and Elizabeth, Farm
Name of Property

York County, PA
County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property __ 100 acres

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)
13]2,7]6,9,9 |44{3,3]9,2,9
Zone Easting Northing

211,8] [312,8]4,0,0] |4 4]3,4/46,0

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet)

31,8 13/2,8690 |4433930

Zone Easting Northing
41,8 13]2,718,5.0] |4 4]31316,ho]

L—_] See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

nameftite  B- Raid / Architectural Historian

organization

city or town York

Historic York, Inc. date 6/00
street & number __P- 0. Box 2312 telephone ___717-843-0320
state __PA Zip code 17405

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form
Continuation Sheets

Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties havirig large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs aof the property.

Additional items
{Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name

street & number

city or town

telephone

state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the Nationat Register -»f Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this reques1 is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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MATERIALS
walls: Aluminum
- NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION

The 100-acre Berkheimer Farm is located within a big loop of the Bermudian Creek (North
Branch) in the northwestern portion of Washington Township in western York County, Pennsylvania.
The farm (York County tax parcel # 133-59-1.C-24) is surrounded for the most part by other agricultural
land. Most of its gently rolling terrain is cultivated but there are also several acres of pastureland as well
as some wooded areas along the creek. The farmstead is located in the northeast of the property. Its eight
historic buildings, one historic structure and two historic sites sit along both sides of Bentz Mill Road,
which runs through the farm from northwest to southeast. The buildings include an 1817 Pennsylvania
German vernacular farmhouse, an 1847 Sweitzer barn, a c. 1840 summer kitchen and a c. 1870 wagon
shed as well as a woodshed, a hog barn, a poultry house and a seed house that were built ¢. 1920. All are
frame except the farmhouse, which is stone. The structure is a metal windmill built in 1909. The sites
consist of the locations of an early-19th-century woolen mill and its race, both of which have been gone
since the early 20th century. These eleven resources contribute to the farm's historical significance; that is,
they retain the majority of original architectural features (buildings only), are 50 years or older, and help to
define the farm's historic character. The land also retains integrity as its agricultural function has remained
constant throughout most of the farm's history. Uncounted landscape features include the sites of an early-
19th-century secondary residence, the original location of the c. 1840 summer kitchen and the original path
of Mt. Top Road. The residence was demolished in c. 1913, the summer kitchen was moved to its current
location in c. 1908 and the roadbed was relocated beyond the farm's boundaries in 1966. Other minor
uncounted features include fencing, utility poles, a concrete sidewalk and several areas where brownstone
was quarried for construction purposes.

Landscape and Setting

The majority of the farm's boundary is created by the undulating Bermudian Creek (see attached
Boundary Map) while the one straight line along its southeastern border abuts another property (tax parcel
#133-59-LC-27). The banks of the creek are heavily wooded. In general the land along the tree line is
not tilled since it is subject to flooding; it is instead used as pasture and meadowland. An especially large
meadow is located within the most prominent curve of the creek to the northeast of the farmstead. There
is evidence that this particular meadow was once farmed despite its susceptibility to flooding. Some of
the pastures and meadows as well as other areas around the farmstead are fenced in order to contain the
livestock. These fences range from 19th-century barbed wire to 20th-century split rail and electric wire.
The farm's terrain ranges from fairly level around the creek to slightly hilly toward the south and southeast.
Approximately 80 of the total 100 acres are currently cultivated using the contour method. The soil



NPS Form 10-900-2 OMB Approval No. 10240018

(8-85)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet

Berkheimer, Henry and Elizabeth, Farm
Section number 7 Page 2 York County, PA

is fairly rocky; in fact, the brown-colored sandstone known as brownstone is found in abundance on the
property. There are two or three areas near the farmstead where it can be seen that the stone was quarried
when the buildings were constructed.

The farmstead is located in the north of the property close to the creek. It was originally
established at the perpendicular conjunction of two roads, Bentz Mill (Township Road # 853) and Mt.
Top (State Route # 66022), both of which appear on the 1821 map of the county and which probably date
to the 18th century. The farm's buildings and structures were situated along both sides of Bentz Mill Road
just to the southeast of its T intersection with Mt. Top Road, which in turn sat just to the southeast of the
northernmost curve of the creek. In 1953 the township road was blacktopped, and in 1966 the state road
was rerouted and elevated. Its path now lies beyond the farm's boundaries a short distance to the north-
west, and the older roadway was added to the farm's total acreage. Ultility poles and power lines still
follow the previous route across the farm, but the roadbed itself is virtually undetectable.

Only one of the farmstead's extant buildings, the wagon shed, sits on the west side of Bentz Mill
Road; all the others are situated on the east side. The farmhouse, which faces the road, and the Sweitzer
barn, which faces away from it, are linearly positioned with the remaining outbuildings and windmill
grouped immediately to their east and southeast (see attached Site Plan). The woolen mill stood just to
the north of the Sweitzer barn. Its race ran from one side of the creek's largest loop to the other, passing
under Bentz Mill Road and between the secondary residence and the summer kitchen on the west side
of the road (to the north of the wagon shed). Mature trees and shrubbery including a few fruit trees are
interspersed among the farmstead buildings. The farmhouse's facade is particularly heavily screened
with tall bushes to offer a measure of privacy from the roadway.

Farmhouse

Fronting southwest, the banked 2-1/2-story Pennsylvania German vernacular house is positioned
within a curve in Bentz Mill Road. The rectangular house is five bays (or 48') wide and two rooms (or 23")
deep. It was built of rough-cut brownstone obtained from the surrounding fields. The stone is laid in
regular courses and the quoins are massive as are some of the stones in the walls. One facade wall stone
measures 5-1/2 feet in length. The gable roof is covered with pressed metal shingles and has one brick
interior end chimney as well as a modern concrete block exterior chimney on the northwest gable. A
datestone in this gable end reads, "H. BERKHEIMER & ELIZABETH HIS WIFE 1817." All the
windows have wooden double-hung 1/1 sash that may date from the first decade of the 20th century.
Those 1n the first-floor facade and in the northwest gable elevation have flat-arched stone lintels. The
five second-floor facade windows and the two original second-floor rear elevation windows have wooden
louvered shutters that are identified with incised Roman numerals. The house's two side-by-side front
doors are recessed with deep molded wood jambs. Both wood paneled doors have a window as well as
a rectangular transom. A third door, located in the southeast gable elevation, has deep wooden jambs
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decorated with paneling. A two-story rear porch at the house's east corner was enclosed with aluminum
siding in the 1960s; it has five windows with double-hung 1/1 sash (three in the first floor and two in the
second) as well as a door in the southeast gable elevation. The basement can be accessed through an
entrance in the rear foundation wall immediately below the enclosed porch. A c. 1910 porch with a
standing-seam metal roof and Tuscan columns runs the full length of the facade and wraps around the
southeast gable elevation. In the 1960s the current owners removed the porch's deteriorated wooden
floor and installed a new one made up of over 300 flat brownstones gathered from the surrounding land.

There 1s a full basement with an earthen floor beneath the farmhouse. It is still equipped with
19th-century wooden vegetable bins. The first floor of the house is laid out with a central hallway and
staircase. To the northwest of the hall are two rooms, a front living room and a rear parlor with a wide
flat-arched doorway between them. There is a hole for a stovepipe in the gable wall but no evidence of a
fireplace. To the southeast of the hall is a large kitchen with two small rooms at its southeast end, a pantry
and a bathroom. A long narrow room across the rear of the kitchen was created when the porch was
enclosed. A portion of this room is used as a second pantry. One of the house's front doors opens into
the central hall while the second opens into the kitchen. At the top of the staircase on the second floor
is a small landing. Two bedrooms to the northwest of the hall correspond to the living room and parlor
below. Two more bedrooms are located to the southeast of the hall along with a narrow rear room that
was once an open porch. There is a full attic with pegged mortise-and-tenon framing. A small room in

_the attic was originally a smokehouse; it is still intact although no longer used for curing meats.

There have been several changes to the original interior design over the years. One change was
the enlargement of the opening between the living room and parlor into its current form as a wide archway.
Another was the enclosure of the originally open central staircase. These two changes took place between
1908 and 1928. In the early 1960s one of the pantries off the kitchen was made into a modern bathroom
and the rear porch was enclosed on both floors.

Sweitzer Barn

The Sweitzer barn, built in 1847 of heavy timber pegged mortise-and-tenon construction, stands

to the northeast of the farmhouse and is 60' wide by 46" deep. It is banked and positioned at a slight angle

to the road. The upslope (rear) elevation faces Bentz Mill Road while the forebay (facade) faces out over

the bull pen toward the creek. The barn's raised foundation and upslope ramp walls were constructed of

rough-cut brownstone laid in regular courses. The metal-clad gable roof is asymmetrical. Its shorter slope
~ features three small gable dormers while the longer slope extends out to cover the overhanging forebay.
The upslope and southwest gable elevations of the barn are clad with wooden weatherboarding while the

northeast gable and forebay elevations have vertical wooden siding. Louvers in the three dormers and in

seven openings in the southwest gable elevation provide ventilation.
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- The northeastern third of the Sweitzer barn contains a wagon shed with its entrance at ground
level beside the stone-walled upslope ramp. In the upper floor of the remaining two-thirds of the barn
are a strawmow, a haymow, a hay trolley with hayfork, a granary and a threshing floor. The stables and
mangers are in the ground floor area. The barn's original interior layout is largely unchanged although a
number of elements have been replaced as needed such as wooden troughs, hayracks and rafters. A
concrete floor was poured in the stable area in the early to mid-1920s.

Summer Kitchen

The frame 1-1/2-story summer kitchen was moved to its current location around 1908. It stands
immediately to the southeast of the farmhouse and is also banked on a brownstone foundation. A flight
of brownstone steps leads from the house's porch down to the kitchen's northwest elevation door. There
is another wood paneled door in the opposite elevation as well. The ¢. 1840 building has a pressed metal
shingle roof with one corbeled brick interior end chimney and is covered with wooden drop siding. Its six
windows have wooden double-hung 6/6 sash. A small frame shed-roof extension was added to the
southwest gable elevation to house an electricity generator around 1920.

Woodshed, Windmill, Poultry House, Hog Barn, Seed House and Wagon Shed

The ¢. 1920 woodshed stands immediately to the east of the summer kitchen. It has a corrugated
metal gable roof and vertical wooden siding. A short distance to the northeast is the metal windmill built in
1909 to pump water. Beside the windmill is a small frame poultry house with a shed roof and two doors.
The one-story building was probably built c. 1920. The similarly aged hog barn to the northwest of the
poultry house is a drop-sided 1-1/2-story building with a corrugated metal gable roof and a window in each
gable end. The tiny seed house is also frame. Located to the west of the hog barn, this c. 1920 building
has a corrugated metal gable roof, vertical wooden siding, six-light window sash and a door in the west -
gable elevation. The three-bay wagon shed is situated by itself on the west side of Bentz Mill Road
opposite the Sweitzer barn. Probably dating from about 1870, it has a metal gable roof and is clad with
wooden drop siding.

Historic Sites and Uncounted Landscape Features

The early-19th-century brownstone woolen mill and small secondary residence were demolished
between 1908 and 1913, and the mill race was filled in with the stones from their walls and foundations.
Also around 1908 the summer kitchen was moved off its stone foundation to its present location beside the
farmhouse. None of these four sites can be readily seen today. The path of the race is still faintly
discernible and there are very slight depressions in the ground that outline the foundations of the three
buildings. The same can be said of the original Mt. Top Road. Its location is easily deduced since the
power lines continue to follow its route, but the roadbed itself is virtually undetectable.
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Integrity

The landscape retains integrity as its agricultural function and a large proportion of its boundary
have remained constant throughout most of the farm's history. Seven of the buildings and the one structure
in the farmstead are largely unaltered in physical appearance; this includes the Sweitzer barn, summer
kitchen, wagon shed, woodshed, poultry house, hog barn, seed house and windmill. The farmhouse has
been changed to a certain extent yet its original form is clearly recognizable. The most notable change is
the enclosure of the two-story rear porch, which is a reversible alteration. The balustrade from the second-
floor balcony of the porch was retained and is now in storage. Only two of the farm's built resources no
longer serve their original function. These are the windmill, which became obsolete when an electrical
system to pump water from the spring to the house was installed in the 1960s, and the summer kitchen.
Since indoor kitchens became the norm many years ago, old summer kitchens began to be used for other
purposes. This one served at various times as a summer home, a washhouse and a butcher house. Today
the building is used mainly for storage.

The nine built resources retain integrity both individually and as a group, and they contribute to
the property's historical significance along with the surrounding farmland. All are important components
of the farm's character, representing the evolution of a typical working farm throughout a period of 113
years. This is true despite the fact that not all of the farm's original buildings are extant. A woolen mull
and a secondary residence dating from the early 19th century were both demolished approximately 90 years
ago, and the mill's race was filled in. A bake oven that was attached to the main farmhouse was also razed
around the same time. The current owners took down a springhouse, two poultry houses, a hog barn and
an outhouse in the early 1960s because they were in extremely poor condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Berkheimer Farm meets National Register Criterion A under the area of Agriculture as a
strong representative example of a typical York County farm operating during the 19th and early 20th
centuries. It also meets Criterion C under the area of Architecture as the farm's built resources reflect the
Pennsylvania German culture of the region as well as the ways in which the agricultural environment has
evolved over the years. Henry and Elizabeth Berkheimer are considered to be the first to develop the
property to any great extent, and they were responsible for constructing the main buildings that define
the character of the farm. The period of significance therefore begins in 1815 when they purchased the
land. It ends in 1928 when the farm went into a 34-year economic decline. The 113-year time span from
1815 to 1928 includes the construction dates of all nine extant resources, and covers the period of growth
and development of the farm.

- AGRICULTURE
Development of Agriculture in York County

~ York's first farmers were the Susquehannock Indians, a group that had broken away from the
Iroquois League of the Five Nations in the northeastern portion of what is now the United States. By 1665
these Native Americans had established one or perhaps two villages in the York area where they cultivated
corn, squash, beans and other crops. In 1700 the chiefs of the Susquehannocks sold this and other lands
adjoining the Susquehanna River to William Penn, a prominent English Quaker who owned the majority
of the territory that would become the State of Pennsylvania. Some German and English emigrants had
begun to settle in the York area even before Penn's purchase and more followed in the first three decades
of the 18th century. By the early 1740s pioneers of German, English and Scots-Irish descent as well as
a few from Wales, Switzerland and France were arriving in increasingly large numbers. Of these, the
Germans were by far the most aggressive in their pursuit of York's fertile limestone-, spring- and creek-
laced farmland. The majority had emigrated from the Palatinate region of Germany west of the River
Rhine, one of the richest agricultural areas in Europe. As they settled in the new country, they became
known as Pennsylvania Germans, or Pennsylvania Dutch. The latter vernacular term uses an anglicized
version of the German word Deutsch meaning "of Germany." Some English Quakers and Scots-Irish
people settled permanently in the northwestern and southeastern sections of the county, but most moved
‘on to other areas. The Scots-Irish in particular migrated west to Ohio and south-to South Carolina and
other states in the late 18th century while the Pennsylvania German farmers settled in and stayed on,
generation after generation.

The farmland in the York area proved to be excellent for most of the crops that were known in
Europe, the one major exception being wine grapes. Fruits such as peaches, apples, cherries, pears, plums
and strawberries flourished on 18th- and 19th-century farms as did grain crops such as wheat, rye, oats,



